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NRAP 26.1 DISCLOSURE  

The undersigned counsel of record certifies that the following are persons 

and entities as described in NRAP 26.1(a) and must be disclosed.  These 

representations are made in order that the Justices of the Court may evaluate 

possible disqualification or recusal. 

1. Respondent In-Lo Properties is not a publicly owned entity, and no 

publicly-held company holds any ownership interest thereof. 

2. Attorneys from the law firm of Holley Driggs have appeared for 

Respondent in this appeal, and in the proceedings in the district court. 

Dated this 17th day of July 2020. 

 

HOLLEY DRIGGS  
 
 
 

/s/ Brian W. Boschee, Esq.  
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JESSICA M. LUJAN, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 14913 
400 South Fourth Street, Third Floor 
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ROUTING STATEMENT 

Desert Valley contends that this case is presumptively routed to the Court of 

Appeals pursuant to NRAP 17(b)(5), which directs “[a]ppeals from a judgment, 

exclusive of interest, attorney fees, and costs, of $250,000 or less in a tort case” to 

the Court of Appeals. NRAP 17(b)(5) (emphasis added). However, as the district 

court matter was not a case sounding in tort, but rather a contract dispute, NRAP 

17(b)(5) is not instructive.  

Instead, NRAP 17(b)(6) is informative, directing “[c]ases involving a 

contract dispute where the amount in controversy is less than $75,000” to the Court 

of Appeals. NRAP 17(b)(6) (emphasis added). Here, the parties were engaged in a 

contract dispute where the amount in controversy was more than $75,000, and 

therefore this matter is impliedly routed to the Supreme Court pursuant to NRAP 

17(b)(6). See Appellant’s Opening Brief at 21 (“For the foregoing reasons, the 

judgment of the District Court should be reversed and remanded . . . and [Desert 

Valley] should be awarded . . . ($89,197.58) in damages . . .”).  
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I. STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

Inose paid Desert Valley a total of $1,125,734.89 to renovate a custom home 

that had been damaged by a flood. Because Desert Valley’s construction costs 

amounted to only $1,012,451.08, and because Desert Valley could not demonstrate 

that it was entitled to any additional sums under its contract with Inose, the district 

court held that Desert Valley failed to show by a preponderance of the evidence 

that it had sustained any damages—an essential element of its claims. Therefore, 

following a bench trial, the district court ruled in favor of Inose on Desert Valley’s 

claims. Did the district court err? 
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II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

 
The underlying district court proceedings from which this appeal is made 

was a straightforward action for breach of contract (and related equitable claims). 

Inose hired Appellant Desert Valley to renovate his home following a flood that 

left the residence uninhabitable. Throughout the project, Desert Valley worked 

with Inose’s insurance company, Firemans’ Fund, to confirm the amount of 

insurance proceeds that would be necessary to complete the work. However, as 

was demonstrated at trial, Desert Valley unilaterally approved change orders to the 

scope of work without Inose’s authorization—and without informing Fireman’s 

Fund of the increased costs—in breach of the contract. Desert Valley also 

materially breached the contract in a number of other ways, which Inose proved at 

trial. 

Thereafter, when Inose refused to pay the balance of Desert Valley’s inflated 

costs, Desert Valley instructed all of the subcontractors to stop work on the 

property. To have the work completed and to avoid having liens placed on his 

property, Inose hired the subcontractors directly to complete the work, ultimately 

paying them $256,481.46 out of his own pocket. Despite Desert Valley’s breaches, 

and despite the fact that Inose paid Desert Valley more than its impermissibly-

inflated costs, Desert Valley initiated suit against Inose in the Eighth Judicial 

District Court on March 31, 2016 to recover the “profits” it believed it was entitled 

SUPP000043



2 
 

to recover from Inose. In response, Inose filed its Answer and Counterclaims 

against Desert Valley on June 7, 2016, to recover the additional sums he was 

forced to pay directly to the subcontractors to complete the work on his home.  

Critically, both leading up to and throughout the litigation, Desert Valley 

never provided Inose with a computation of its purported damages—because it did 

not sustain any. Moreover, when Desert Valley did represent its damages in 

response to Inose’s interrogatories and in its pretrial brief, such damages figures 

varied considerably. Desert Valley’s failure to provide a concrete representation of 

its damages was revealed at trial to have been caused by Desert Valley’s own 

failure to properly document its changes to the scope of work. 

Following an unsuccessful settlement conference held on November 29, 

2017, the parties proceeded to a seven-day bench trial that commenced on April 8, 

2019 and continued on the following non-consecutive dates: April 9–11, 2019, and 

June 19–21, 2019. Following the bench trial, the district court entered its findings 

of fact and conclusions of law on September 3, 2019. The district court ruled in 

favor of Inose on Desert Valley’s claims, and in favor of Desert Valley on Inose’s 

counterclaims, holding that neither party had been able to establish its damages 

with any level of certainty, given Desert Valley’s failure to properly document 

authorized changes to the scope of work throughout the project. 

Thereafter, on September 20, 2019, Inose moved for attorneys’ fees and 
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costs pursuant to a generous offer of judgment that Inose made to Desert Valley in 

May 2017, which Desert Valley rejected. The district court granted Inose’s motion 

for attorneys’ fees and costs on February 6, 2020. Desert Valley now appeals the 

district court’s findings of fact and conclusions of law, but does not challenge the 

district court’s award of attorneys’ fees and costs to Inose. 

 
III. STATEMENT OF THE FACTS 

a. Inose hired Desert Valley to repair water damage to Inose’s residential 
property 

Inose1 is the principal of In-Lo2 (hereinafter collectively referred to as 

“Inose”), which owns the residential real property located at 587 St. Croix Street, 

Henderson, Nevada 89012 (the “Property”). VII APP 11623. On or about August 2, 

2014, the Property was flooded and damaged to the extent that Inose was unable to 

reside at the Property. Id. The damage was covered by Inose’s insurance policy 

through Fireman’s Fund Insurance Company (“Fireman’s Fund”). VII APP 1163. 

Inose retained Desert Valley4 to be the general contractor in the restoration of the 

Property (the “Project”).  Id. at 1162–63. 

Per the trial testimony of both Desert Valley’s owner (Dennis Zachary) and 

 
1 Defendant-Appellant Eugene Inose. 
2 Appellant In-Lo Properties. 
3 Citations to Desert Valley’s Appendix will be formatted as “Volume No. APP 
Bates Number”. 
4 Plaintiff-Appellee Desert Valley Contracting, Inc. 
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the lead estimator on the Project (Daniel Merritt), the Work Authorization and 

Contract to Perform Scope of Work (the “Contract”) between Desert Valley and 

Inose was prepared by Desert Valley and is a form contract utilized by Desert 

Valley when it performs insurance work. Id. at 1163. It was established at trial that 

the Contract was to be performed on a “10 and 10” basis, meaning that Desert 

Valley’s job costs would have built into its total an additional ten percent (10%) to 

account for Desert Valley’s overhead and another ten percent (10%) to account for 

Desert Valley’s profit when it provided its estimate to Fireman’s Fund. Id.  

The Contract further provides, in pertinent part, as follows: 

Should Client terminate the Contractor after work has begun, but not 
completed in full, the Client shall be responsible for any and all fees 
and costs associated with the work performed, plus the profit that the 
client would have made on the job had Client not repudiated the 
contract.5 

Id. (citing Trial Exhibit 560, the Contract). 

 Per Merritt’s trial testimony, he spent a minimum of one week assessing the 

damage and coordinating with subcontractors and Fireman’s Fund, from which he 

produced an estimated job cost. Id. Desert Valley also began overseeing the project 

and engaging subcontractors to perform work on the Property. Id. Throughout the 

 
5 Desert Valley asserts at multiple points throughout its Opening Brief that the 
Contract states that “INOSE is responsible for any fees and costs plus the profit 
DVC [i.e., Desert Valley] would have made had INOSE  not repudiated the 
Contract.” Appellant’s Opening Brief at 6. See also id. at 13. This is false, and an 
attempt to convince the Court that the Contract reads the way Desert Valley 
interprets it.  
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Project, Merritt was Inose’s and the subcontractors’ primary point of contact with 

Desert Valley. Id. at 1163–64. 

b. Desert Valley prepared an initial bid, but then unilaterally approved 
cost over-runs and changes to the scope of work 

 An initial bid for the project was completed on or around November 17, 

2014, and was provided to Fireman’s Fund to coordinate an anticipated scope of 

work and release of insurance proceeds (the “November Bid”). Id. at 1164. The 

November Bid includes a line item total job cost of $1,035,605.74, plus ten percent 

(10%) overhead in the amount of $103,561.15, plus ten percent (10%) profit in the 

amount of $103,561.15, and material sales tax of $31,371.63, for a grand total 

claim of $1,274,099.67. Id. (citing Trial Exhibit 266 at DVC000662).  

Merritt testified at trial that there were many frivolous cost overruns on the 

Project; e.g., an over-order of approximately eight (8) pallets of unused tile, the 

cost of repainting walls that were damaged during the cutting of the tiles, and items 

that went missing from the Project, such as a television and several Lutron 

switches. Id. at 1165. Additionally, delivery of marble flooring was delayed for 

several months due to customs issues and a dock workers’ strike in Los Angeles, 

California, causing further increased costs. Id. (citing Trial Exhibit 475). 

Despite the various cost over-runs, Desert Valley had consistently 

represented to Inose that Desert Valley could offset the costs of certain changes in 

the scope of work by removing other items that were part of the original scope of 
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work and that doing so would not affect the total cost of the project. Id. at 1165. 

This included, but was not limited to, the removal of the sauna which had 

previously been on the Property offset by an expansion and various upgrades to the 

wine room. Id.  

c. Desert Valley consistently failed to obtain written and signed change 
orders by Inose, as required by the Contract 

 The Contract provides that “[i]f any requests for additional work to be 

performed are made during the scope of the job, all such requests must be put in 

writing so that these costs will be added to the Scope of Work.” Id. at 1165 (citing 

Trial Exhibit 560, the Contract); Id. at 1137–38. At trial, Zachary and each of the 

subcontractors testified that it is the industry standard that all change orders should 

be in writing, and that subcontractors would not expect to be paid for any 

additional work performed outside the scope of their bids unless the additional 

work was approved through a written, approved, and signed change order. Id. at 

1165–66.  

 Zachary further testified that, without a written and signed change order, 

Desert Valley would not be obligated to pay subcontractors for changes to their 

scope of work. Id. at 1166. Moreover, without a written and signed change order, 

Desert Valley could not obligate Inose to pay for any changes to Desert Valley’s 

scope of work. Id. Despite Zachary’s testimony that written and signed change 

orders were necessary to alter the scope of work on the Project, Zachary and 
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Merritt confirmed at trial that Desert Valley did not obtain Inose’s approval or 

signature on any change orders throughout the course of the Project. Id.  

However, each of the subcontractors confirmed that they had change orders 

on the Project which had been provided to and approved by Desert Valley prior to 

July 3, 20156, the majority of which had been approved and/or signed by Merritt. 

Id. Notably, Desert Valley did not present any change orders at trial that were 

approved or signed by Inose. Id. Moreover, Desert Valley failed to present as 

evidence any written communications from Desert Valley to Inose prior to October 

2015 indicating the existence of change orders on the Project. Id.  

d. The Fireman’s Fund insurance claim was closed out at the amount 
represented by Desert Valley as the total cost of the Project 

 Regarding the insurance claim, the Contract further provides that the 

“Contractor agrees to perform the insured work as approved by the Insurance 

Company and accept insurance proceeds as payment for the insured work.” Id. at 

1167. Merritt testified that, throughout the course of the Project, he negotiated 

directly with Fireman’s Fund the total amount of insurance proceeds that would be 

available for the scope of work on the Property based on cost estimates prepared 

by Desert Valley. Id. Indeed, on June 5, 2015, Merritt confirmed with Fireman’s 

 
6 This date is significant, as Desert Valley would later represent in a Waiver and 
Release form that there were “No change orders as of 07/03/2015.” Id. at 1168 
(citing Trial Exhibit 562, Unconditional Waiver and Release on Progress 
Payment). See also infra. 
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Fund that Desert Valley would be able to complete the Project for a total amount of 

$1,321,133.127, with “no needed change orders, and no more change orders from 

all of the subcontractors which had submitted their bids.” Id. (citing Trial Exhibit 

571 at IN-LO00074). Notably, the estimate sent to Fireman’s Fund by Merritt 

(titled “Final Bid” with a completed date of April 27, 2015) includes work that was 

never completed by Desert Valley prior to the eventual termination of the Contract, 

such as the costly sauna bath removal. Id. 

 Because Merritt represented to Fireman’s Fund that the house would be 

completed with no needed change orders for $1,321,133.12, Inose relied on this 

representation (and further discussions with Merritt) in closing out the insurance 

claim for this amount. Id. at 1169. This amount was confirmed in a signed Desert 

Valley invoice dated September 4, 2015. Id. at 1170. Desert Valley presented no 

evidence at trial that it objected to Inose’s having closed the insurance claim prior 

to October 2015 (months after the claim was closed). Id. at 1168. 

Inose and Merritt testified that on or about July 3, 2015, Desert Valley 

provided to Inose a waiver and release (the “Waiver”) which included a notation 

signed by Merritt indicating “No change orders as of 07/03/2015.” Id. at 1168. 

 
7 This figure was amended slightly in a June 19, 2015, email from Fireman’s Fund 
to Inose, which represented that Desert Valley had forwarded a “final estimate” of 
$1,320,429.28. Id. at 1167 (citing Trial Exhibit 571 at IN-LO00071). The email 
again confirms that Desert Valley had represented that “no further billing exists 
beyond” the final estimate. Id. 
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(citing Trial Exhibit 562, the Waiver). The Waiver was also signed by Rachelle 

Elliston, Desert Valley’s operations manager, and includes a handwritten notation 

stating “Total Contract to Complete House $1,321,331.278.” Id. The Waiver 

provides in capitalized text as follows: 

NOTICE: THIS DOCUMENT WAIVES RIGHTS 
UNCONDITIONALLY AND STATES THAT YOU HAVE BEEN 
PAID FOR GIVING UP THOSE RIGHTS.  THIS DOCUMENT IS 
ENFORCEABLE AGAINST YOU IF YOU SIGN IT, EVEN IF YOU 
HAVE NOT BEEN PAID.  IF YOU HAVE NOT BEEN PAID, USE 
A CONDITIONAL RELEASE FORM. 

Id. at 1168. 

e. After the insurance claim was closed, Desert Valley revealed a massive 
change order not previously authorized by Inose 

 Thereafter, due to mounting disagreements regarding the total Project costs 

(caused by Desert Valley’s unilaterally approving various change orders), on 

November 16, 2015, Desert Valley sent a letter to all subcontractors working on 

the Project directing them to cease work on the Property. Id. (citing Trial Exhibit 

567, Letter dated November 16, 2015). Then, on November 23, 2015, Merritt 

prepared a summary for Desert Valley’s attorney of the purported differences 

between the initial bids of each of the subcontractors on the Project as well as 

Merritt’s own projected costs and the actual costs for each category of work. Id. 

(citing Trial Exhibit 568, November 23, 2015 Email). Merritt forwarded this 

 
8 This figure represents yet another slight alteration to the total amount, again 
without any corresponding change orders to justify the amendment. 
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summary to Inose the following day, which asserted a difference of approximately 

$125,763.26 between the estimated and actual costs to complete the Project. Id. at 

1168. The list delineates between the estimated and final costs of completion but 

does not specify what amounts are accounted for through written, approved, and 

signed change orders and what amounts are not. Id. at 1169 (citing Trial Exhibit 

568, November 23, 2015 Email). 

Merritt testified that, although he had been receiving and approving change 

orders throughout the course of the Project, and notwithstanding that Desert Valley 

had indicated to Inose in writing in July 2015 that there were no change orders and 

again in September 2015 that the cost to complete the house was $1,321,331.27, 

Merritt always intended to prepare and submit one large master change order to 

Inose toward the end of the Project. Id. at 1169. However, no evidence was 

presented at trial of any written communications to Inose indicating Desert 

Valley’s intent to compile and submit a large, master change order at the end of the 

Project. Id.  

f. Inose’s refusal to pay the unauthorized change order led to Desert 
Valley’s stopping work on the Project, thereby forcing Inose to deal with 
and pay subcontractors directly 

Because Desert Valley instructed all subcontractors to stop working on the 

Property, Inose terminated the Contract with Desert Valley on December 8, 2015, 

prior to a substantial portion of the Project being completed. Id. Merritt confirmed 
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through testimony that, at the time Desert Valley ceased working on the Property, 

the Project was approximately eighty-five percent (85%) complete, which rendered 

the Property uninhabitable. Id. Therefore, to have the work completed and to avoid 

any liens being placed on the Property, Inose was forced to engage many of the 

subcontractors directly to complete the work. Id. at 1169. 

Nevertheless, Inose paid Desert Valley for the work it performed on the 

Property in the amount of $1,123,734.87 throughout the course of the Project. Id. 

at 1170 (citing Trial Exhibit 585, Checks). Zachary confirmed through testimony 

that, in total, Desert Valley incurred costs in the amount of $1,012,451.08. Id. 

Accordingly, Zachary and Elliston testified that Desert Valley was paid for the 

entirety of its costs incurred, as well as a portion of its profit and overhead. Id. 

Beyond the sums paid to Desert Valley, Inose paid directly to subcontractors 

the total amount of $256,481.46 to complete work for which Desert Valley had 

already been paid. Id. (citing Trial Exhibits 586–595). Ultimately, Inose paid 

Desert Valley $1,123,734.87 to complete approximately eighty-five percent (85%) 

of the Project, plus an additional $256,481.46 to subcontractors directly to finish 

the project, for a sum total paid by Inose of $1,380,216.33 (after having closed out 

his insurance claim for only $1,321,133.12). Id. See also id. at 1169. 

g. Procedural History 

Thereafter, on March 31, 2016, Desert Valley filed its Complaint against 
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Inose to recover additional sums that it believes it is due, asserting four (4) causes 

of action against Inose: (1) Breach of Contract, (2) Breach of the Implied Covenant 

of Good Faith and Fair Dealing, (3) Unjust Enrichment, and (4) Intentional 

Interference with Contractual Relations. I APP 1–19. In response, Inose filed its 

Answer and Counterclaims against Desert Valley to recover the additional sums he 

was forced to pay directly to the subcontractors. I APP 20–47. Accordingly, Inose 

asserted counterclaims for: (1) Breach of Contract, (2) Breach of the Implied 

Covenant of Good Faith and Fair Dealing, (3) Unjust Enrichment, and (4) 

Intentional Interference with Prospective Economic Advantage. Id. 

Following a seven-day bench trial, the district court ruled in favor of Inose 

on each and every one of Desert Valley’s claims against him and his co-

defendants, finding that, among other issues, Desert Valley had failed to 

demonstrate by a preponderance of the evidence that it had sustained any 

damages.9 VII APP 1171–73. Desert Valley now appeals the district court’s 

judgment. 

IV. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT 

Desert Valley’s costs to renovate Inose’s home totaled $1,012,451.08. Inose 

paid Desert Valley $1,123,734.87, notwithstanding the district court’s 

 
9 The district court ruled in favor of Desert Valley on Inose’s counterclaims. VII 
APP 1173–78. However, the district court’s ruling on those claims is not contested 
in this appeal. 
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determination that Desert Valley completed only eighty-five percent (85%) of the 

Project, failed to perform in a workmanlike manner, unilaterally approved change 

orders to the scope of work without Inose’s authorization, and inflated its asserted 

costs with work it never performed. Nevertheless, Desert Valley challenges the 

district court’s findings of fact and conclusions of law on three grounds. All of 

Desert Valley’s arguments must fail. 

First, Desert Valley argues that the district court should have applied the 

scrivener’s error doctrine to a purported “typo” in the Contract to entitle Desert 

Valley to an additional $89,197.58 from Inose. However, it is well-established that, 

where ambiguity is discerned in a contract between a sophisticated commercial 

venturer (such as Desert Valley) and a layperson (such as Inose), any ambiguity 

should be construed against the drafter—in this case, Desert Valley. Moreover, 

even if there were no ambiguity in the Contract, it is also well-established in 

Nevada that unambiguous contracts should be enforced as written. Therefore, there 

is simply no legal basis for Desert Valley’s attempt to alter the plain meaning of 

the Contract that it drafted, particularly where Inose, a layperson with no 

experience in the construction industry, agreed to the terms of the Contract as 

written. 

Second, Desert Valley asserts that the district court erred when it determined 

that Desert Valley had not proven any damages at trial. Rather, Desert Valley 
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submits that it was entitled to receive a total amount of $1,214,941.30, representing 

its total costs on the Project plus an additional twenty percent (20%) profit. 

However, it is undisputed that Desert Valley failed to complete the Project, never 

obtained proper authorization to execute change orders to the scope of the work, 

included in its ledger of “costs” work that it never performed, and failed to 

complete the work within the confines of Inose’s insurance proceeds. 

Moreover, Desert Valley should not have been permitted to present evidence 

of its damages at trial, as it never provided Inose with a computation of its 

damages, as required by NRCP 16.1. Even where it did provide damages figures 

(but never an actual computation), such figures varied both before and after the 

start of litigation—including the instant appeal. Desert Valley’s inability to provide 

a concrete representation of its damages only highlights Desert Valley’s failure to 

keep adequate business records of its authorized Project costs and purported 

“damages.” As a result, the district court was unable to discern Desert Valley’s 

authorized costs from the costs it incurred in violation of the Contract, and thus 

properly found that Desert Valley had failed to prove its damages by a 

preponderance of the evidence. 

And finally, Desert Valley asserts that the district court erred in holding that 

it had breached the Contract, even though the district court ruled in Desert Valley’s 

favor on Inose’s counterclaims against it. This argument is irrelevant, as it has no 
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bearing on Desert Valley’s appeal of its claims, which were determined solely on 

the basis of Desert Valley’s failure to establish its damages at trial. Regardless, 

Desert Valley’s argument that it did not breach the Contract is meritless. Indeed, 

based on the facts discerned at trial, it is undisputed that Desert Valley (1) failed to 

complete its work in a good, workmanlike manner, (2) failed to complete the scope 

of work within the confines of the insurance proceeds, and (3) failed to pay 

subcontractors for portions of work that they performed. 

Accordingly, the district court committed no error in ruling in favor of Inose 

on Desert Valley’s claims, and this Court should affirm the findings of fact and 

conclusions of law of the district court in full. 

V. STANDARD OF REVIEW 

a. Findings of fact 

The Nevada Supreme Court “reviews the district court’s findings of fact for 

an abuse of discretion, and this court will not set aside those findings ‘unless they 

are clearly erroneous or not supported by substantial evidence.’” NOLM, LLC v. 

Cty. of Clark, 120 Nev. 736, 739, 100 P.3d 658, 660–61 (2004). 

b. Conclusions of law 

“A district court’s conclusions of law are reviewed de novo.” White v. Cont'l 

Ins. Co., 119 Nev. 114, 116, 65 P.3d 1090, 1091 (2003). Similarly, the Nevada 

Supreme Court reviews a district court’s application of law to facts on a de novo 

basis. See D.R. Horton, Inc. v. Green, 120 Nev. 549, 553, 96 P.3d 1159, 1162 

SUPP000057



16 
 

(2004), overruled on other grounds by U.S. Home Corp. v. Michael Ballesteros 

Tr., 134 Nev. 180, 415 P.3d 32 (2018). 

c. Damages calculations 

The “district court is given wide discretion in calculating an award of 

damages, and this award will not be disturbed on appeal absent an abuse of 

discretion.” Diamond Enterprises, Inc. v. Lau, 113 Nev. 1376, 1379, 951 P.2d 73, 

74 (1997) (citing Flamingo Realty v. Midwest Development, 110 Nev. 984, 987, 

879 P.2d 69, 71 (1994), cert. denied, 514 U.S. 1127, 115 S.Ct. 1999, 131 L.Ed.2d 

1001 (1995)). Additionally, while “a district court’s interpretation of a contractual 

term is a question of law, which this court reviews de novo, whether a contract 

exists and the parties’ intentions regarding a contractual provision are questions 

of fact, which this court reviews for substantial evidence.” Whitemaine v. 

Aniskovich, 124 Nev. 302, 308, 183 P.3d 137, 141 (2008) (emphasis added).  

VI. ARGUMENT 

In challenging the district court’s findings of fact and conclusions of law 

(“FFCL”) on appeal, Desert Valley argues that (1) a “typo” in the Contract should 

be amended by the court to entitle Desert Valley to an additional $89,197.58 from 

Inose; (2) it is entitled to twenty percent (20%) profit on Project costs that were 

never approved via a valid change order; and (3) the district court erred when it 

found Desert Valley in breach of the Contract (despite the fact that it ruled in 
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Desert Valley’s favor on Inose’s contract claims). See Appellant’s Opening Brief at 

8–21. For the following reasons, Desert Valley’s appeal must fail. 

a. The district court did not abuse its discretion when it ruled that the 
Contract was ambiguous and construed its terms against the drafter, 
Desert Valley 

The Contract between Inose and Desert Valley states, in part: 

Should Client terminate the Contractor after work has begun, but not 
completed in full, the Client shall be responsible for any and all fees 
and costs associated with the work performed, plus the profit that the 
client would have made on the job had Client not repudiated the 
contract. 

VII APP 1163 (citing Trial Exhibit 560, the Contract); VII APP 1137–38. 

 Desert Valley relies on this provision of the contract (hereinafter, the 

“Termination Provision”) in support of its argument that it is entitled to an 

additional twenty percent (20%) of its costs on the Project as profit. Appellant’s 

Opening Brief at 11–12.  However, because the Termination Provision clearly 

states that the client is entitled to profits (and not Desert Valley) Desert Valley 

argues that the district court should have applied the scrivener’s error doctrine to 

correct what it refers to as a “typo” in the Contract. Id. In addition to the fact that 

Desert Valley failed to demonstrate at trial the total amount of its authorized costs 

(and thus cannot demonstrate what an additional twenty percent (20%) of those 

costs would be), which Inose will discuss in detail infra, Desert Valley’s argument 

regarding the proper interpretation of the Termination Provision must fail. 

As this Court has held, the “objective of interpreting contracts is to discern 
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the intent of the contracting parties. Traditional rules of contract interpretation are 

employed to accomplish that result.” Am. First Fed. Credit Union v. Soro, 131 

Nev. 737, 739, 359 P.3d 105, 106 (2015) (quotations and citations omitted). 

Moreover, as the district court recognized in its FFCL, where ambiguity is 

discerned in a contract, any such ambiguity “should 

be construed against the drafter.” Id. (quoting Anvui, LLC v. G.L. Dragon, 

LLC, 123 Nev. 212, 215–16, 163 P.3d 405, 407 (2007)) (internal quotation marks 

omitted) (emphasis added). See also VII APP 1178. In particular, “[n]egotiations 

between a wealthy, sophisticated commercial venturer and a naive consumer 

cannot be of equal strength. For that reason, the law attempts to render an 

ambiguous contract fair by making the drafter responsible for ambiguity.” 

Ainsworth v. Combined Ins. Co. of Am., 104 Nev. 587, 592, 763 P.2d 673, 676 

(1988). 

Here, Inose has zero experience in the construction industry, while Desert 

Valley boasts in its Opening Brief that its owner, Dennis Zachary, “has over Thirty 

[sic] (30) years of experience in the construction industry.” Appellant’s Opening 

Brief at 14. Moreover, the Contract was prepared by Desert Valley and is a form 

contract utilized by Desert Valley when it performs insurance work. VII APP 

1163. Therefore, Desert Valley had ample experience and opportunity to recognize 

the “typo” in the Contract, if indeed there was one. However, Desert Valley failed 
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to recognize this “typo,” and now asks that the Court hold Inose responsible for its 

unilateral error, even though Inose (a layperson) signed and agreed to the terms of 

the Contract as written. 

 While “a district court’s interpretation of a contractual term is a question of 

law, which this court reviews de novo, whether a contract exists and the parties’ 

intentions regarding a contractual provision are questions of fact, which this court 

reviews for substantial evidence.” Whitemaine, 124 Nev. at 308, 183 P.3d at 141 

(emphasis added). Here, Desert Valley has failed to show that the Court was not 

presented with “substantial evidence” in making its determination that the Contract 

was ambiguous. The only evidence that Desert Valley presents regarding Inose’s 

understanding of the Contract is the following short excerpt of Inose’s trial 

testimony: 

Q. …So it is your understanding that if you terminated them you 
would have been still responsible for any profit that they would have 
earned if you had not terminated them? 
A. Yes. How I read it now, yes. And as long as the work was in 
good workman like manner and condition. 

Appellant’s Opening Brief at 11 (citing VII APP 113) (emphasis added). 

 If anything, this quote from Inose implies that this was not Inose’s 

interpretation of the Contract at the time he signed it. Without more, it cannot be 

shown that the district court did not rely on substantial evidence in determining 

that the Termination Provision of the Contract was ambiguous. Indeed, it was 
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Desert Valley that created the ambiguity by suggesting that the Termination 

Provision was intended to produce the exact opposite result of its plain text. 

However, even if Desert Valley is correct that the Contract is not 

ambiguous, Desert Valley is still not entitled to reversal of the district court’s 

holding. It is well-established that where the language of a contract is “clear and 

unambiguous . . . the contract will be enforced as written.” Am. First Fed. Credit 

Union, 131 Nev. at 739, 359 P.3d at 106 (citing Davis v. Beling, 128 Nev. 301, 

321, 278 P.3d 501, 515 (2012)) (emphasis added). Here, if the Termination 

Provision is unambiguous, it should be enforced as written (with Inose being 

entitled to profits upon termination of the Contract). Under either scenario, it is 

Desert Valley that should have to live with the consequences of the Contract that it 

drafted—not Inose.  

b. Desert Valley cannot demonstrate that it has suffered any damages 
because it was paid commensurate with its validly incurred costs 

Desert Valley’s incurred costs on the Project totaled $1,012,451.08. 

Appellant’s Opening Brief at 13; VII APP 1170. This is notwithstanding the fact 

that (1) Desert Valley left the job at eighty-five percent (85%) completion, (2) 

Desert Valley’s Final Bid10 to Fireman’s Fund insurance included in its estimate 

work that was never completed (e.g., the sauna bath removal), and (3) Desert 

 
10 Notably, although Desert Valley’s Final Bid totaled $1,321,133.12, this figure 
included an additional ten percent (10%) for overhead and ten percent (10%) 
profit; i.e., an additional twenty percent (20%) above its costs. VII APP 1163.  
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Valley never obtained Inose’s written authorization to incur costs above and 

beyond its Final Bid to Fireman’s Fund. VII APP 1166–67, 1169. Moreover, a 

significant portion of the cost of the Project was supposed to be disbursed to the 

subcontractors, and not retained solely by Desert Valley. See VII APP 1169. 

However, after Desert Valley instructed the subcontractors to stop work on the 

Project, Inose ended up retaining the subcontractors directly, paying them a total of 

$256,481.46 to complete the Project. VII APP 1170. 

Despite the foregoing, Desert Valley asserts that it was paid $1,125,734.89 

by Inose—more than its asserted (inflated) costs.11 Appellant’s Opening Brief at 

13. Then, after Desert Valley’s having (1) left the Project only eighty-five (85%) 

complete, (2) failing to complete the work it did do in a workmanlike manner, (3) 

failing to complete the work within the confines of the insurance proceeds as 

required by the Contract, and (4) failing to obtain Inose’s written approval for 

approximately $125,763.26 in change orders as required by the Contract (all 

unexcused breaches of the Contract), Desert Valley initiated suit to recover its 

anticipated “profit.” VII APP 1174; Appellant’s Opening Brief at 1, 6, 12–15. 

Now, Desert Valley appeals the district court’s correctly decided FFCL that Desert 

 
11 Tellingly, Desert Valley’s Opening Brief overstates the amount it was paid based 
on the FFCL, which states that Inose paid Desert Valley $1,123,734.87. Compare 
Appellants Opening Brief at 13, with VII APP 1170. This disparity highlights 
Desert Valley’s failure to adequately keep track of its records and purported 
change orders throughout the Project and subsequent litigation. 
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Valley is not entitled to any additional sums from Inose. VII APP 1169–70.  

Because Desert Valley was unable to demonstrate which portion of its costs 

were incurred pursuant to validly authorized change orders (because there were 

none), and because Desert Valley provided inconsistent damages “computations” 

throughout trial, the district court properly found that Desert Valley failed to 

establish, by a preponderance of the evidence, that it had sustained any damages. 

Accordingly, and as will be discussed in further detail infra, the district court 

committed no error and properly ruled in favor of Inose on Desert Valley’s claims. 

1. Desert Valley improperly asserts that this issue is subject to 
de novo review 

As a preliminary matter, Desert Valley asserts that the issue of damages 

should be reviewed de novo, arguing that the district court’s determination that 

Desert Valley had not demonstrated damages “by a preponderance of the 

evidence” constitutes a question of law that is subject to de novo review. 

Appellant’s Opening Brief at 12. However, the district court made a series of 

findings of fact (the vast majority of which Desert Valley does not dispute) which 

led it to its natural conclusion that Desert Valley cannot have sustained any 

damages. See VII APP 1162–70. If applying those facts to the correct legal 

standard in reaching a determination as to damages (here, preponderance of the 

evidence) is tantamount to ruling on a question of law, then all questions of fact 

could be deemed questions of law, which would moot the need for separate 
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standards of review as to the same—an absurd result. This point is highlighted by 

Desert Valley’s failure to provide any authority for its assertion that this issue 

should be reviewed on a de novo basis. See Appellant’s Opening Brief at 12–13.  

Rather, the “district court is given wide discretion in calculating an award of 

damages, and this award will not be disturbed on appeal absent an abuse of 

discretion.” Diamond Enterprises, Inc., 113 Nev. at 1379, 951 P.2d at 74 (citing 

Flamingo Realty v. Midwest Development, 110 Nev. 984, 987, 879 P.2d 69, 71 

(1994), cert. denied, 514 U.S. 1127, 115 S.Ct. 1999, 131 L.Ed.2d 1001 (1995)) 

(emphasis added). Therefore, the Court should review the district court’s 

determination regarding Desert Valley’s damages for abuse of discretion. 

2. Desert Valley argues, without support, that it is entitled to 
$89,197.58 in damages 

 The crux of Desert Valley’s argument is that it was entitled to an additional 

twenty percent (20%) above and beyond its “costs” on the project, which the 

district court found totaled $1,012,451.08. VII APP 1170; Appellant’s Opening 

Brief at 13–14. Therefore, Desert Valley asserts that it was entitled to receive from 

Inose a total amount of $1,214,941.30 (costs, plus 20%). Appellant’s Opening 

Brief at 14. Thus, because Desert Valley received a total of $1,125,734.89 from 

Inose, it asserts that it has been damaged in the amount of $89,197.58. Id. at 15. 

 First, while Desert Valley may have, in actuality, spent $1,012,451.08 on the 

Project, such inflated costs were never approved via written, signed change orders 
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by Inose, as required by the Contract and by industry standard. See VII APP 1166. 

Without such change orders, any of Desert Valley’s costs beyond its share of its 

Final Bid to Fireman’s Fund were not properly incurred and Inose cannot be liable 

for the same. Id. As discussed, the total amount of Desert Valley’s Final Bid was 

$1,321,133.12 (which included sums that were supposed to be paid to 

subcontractors for their work on the Project, as well as an additional twenty 

percent (20%) to cover overhead and profit). Id. at 1164, 1167. Desert Valley 

represented on multiple occasions that the Project could be completed for that 

amount, and further represented that no change orders would be necessary. Id. at 

1167–68. Indeed, Desert Valley never represented to Inose or Fireman’s Fund in 

writing that it had been unilaterally approving change orders to the subcontractors’ 

work. Id. at 1167–69. For that reason, the insurance claim was closed out at the 

amount of Desert Valley’s Final Bid, as Fireman’s Fund had no reason to believe 

that additional proceeds were necessary. See id. 

 Moreover, even disregarding the massive, unauthorized change order Desert 

Valley presented to Inose in November 2015, the Final Bid itself represents 

inflated and inaccurate costs, as the estimate Desert Valley provided Fireman’s 

Fund along with its Final Bid included work that Desert Valley never completed. 

Id. Certainly, Desert Valley is not entitled to “profit” on a contract that it 

materially breached (unexcused), nor on “costs” that (1) a portion of which were 
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never actually incurred (e.g., the sauna bath removal), (2) were calculated 

according to “change orders” that were never authorized pursuant to the Contract, 

and (3) were ultimately paid directly by Inose to the subcontractors after Desert 

Valley left the Project eighty-five percent (85%) complete. Because the district 

court had no way to untangle Desert Valley’s authorized costs from its 

unauthorized costs, it was left with no choice but to hold that Desert Valley had 

failed to demonstrate, by a preponderance of the evidence, that it had sustained any 

damages. Desert Valley’s predicament in this regard only highlights the 

importance of written and signed change orders and proper recordkeeping.  

 Moreover, even though it is indisputable that Desert Valley’s Costs were 

impermissibly inflated, Zachary and Elliston confirmed via trial testimony that 

Desert Valley was paid for the entirety of its costs incurred, as well as a portion of 

its “profit” and overhead. VII APP 1170. Desert Valley failed to demonstrate at 

trial that it was entitled to anything more than that—as previously discussed, the 

Termination Provision upon which Desert Valley relies states that Inose would be 

entitled to profits if the Contract was terminated. See VII APP 1165 (citing Trial 

Exhibit 560, the Contract); VII APP 1137–38. However, even if Desert Valley had 

not written this egregious “typo” into Contract, nowhere in the Contract does it 

state that Desert Valley was entitled to an additional twenty percent (20%) above 
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and beyond its costs.12 See VII APP 1137–38. Therefore, because it is undisputed 

that Desert Valley was reimbursed for more than the entirety of its costs on the 

Project, and because Desert Valley could not demonstrate that it was entitled to 

any additional sums from Inose, the district court properly ruled in favor of Inose 

on Desert Valley’s claims. 

 Finally, as a matter of procedure, Desert Valley should not have been 

permitted to present evidence of its damages at trial, as it never provided a 

computation of its damages pursuant to NRCP 16.1.13 See I SUPP 1–24, 25–69, 

96–128, 156–188.14 NRCP 16.1 provides, in pertinent part, that a party must, 

without awaiting a discovery request, provide to the other parties “[a] computation 

of any category of damages claimed by the disclosing party.” NRCP 

16.1(a)(1)(A)(iv). “[T]he word ‘computation’ contemplates some analysis beyond 

merely setting forth a lump sum amount for a claimed element of damages.” 

CCR/AG Showcase Phase 1 Owner, L.L.C. v. United Artists Theatre Circuit, Inc., 

No. 2:08-cv-00984-RCJ-GWF, 2010 WL 1947016, at *5 (D. Nev. May 13, 2010) 

(unpublished disposition) (internal citation omitted).  

Further, NRCP 37(c)(1) states that “[a] party that without substantial 

justification fails to disclose information required by Rule 16.1 . . . is not, unless 

 
12 This figure was established via trial testimony. See VII APP 1163. 
13 Inose raised this argument in its pre-trial brief. I SUPP 214–233. 
14 Citations to Inose’s Appendix will be formatted as “I SUPP Bates No.” 
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such failure is harmless, permitted to use as evidence at a trial . . . any witness or 

information not so disclosed. When a party fails to provide a computation of 

damages, the appropriate remedy is exclusion of evidence of damages at trial. See 

Pizarro-Ortega v. Cervantes-Lopez, 133 Nev. 261, 264–65, 396 P.3d 783, 787 

(2017). 

 Here, Desert Valley never provided a computation of its damages in its 

initial disclosures (or supplements thereto), as required by NRCP 16.1. Similarly, 

Desert Valley did not even provide a computation of its damages in its pretrial 

disclosures. See I SUPP 189–213. This alone should have precluded Desert Valley 

from presenting evidence of its damages at trial.  

However, to make matters more confusing for Inose prior to trial, Desert 

Valley set forth varying dollar figures (without any computation) of its purported 

damages throughout the litigation, via its answers to Inose’s interrogatories. For 

example, in Desert Valley’s initial responses to Inose’s First Set of Interrogatories 

(the “First Interrogatories”), which it served on May 19, 2017, Desert Valley 

asserted that its damages were “$82,692.27”. I SUPP 76. Thereafter, in its 

supplemental responses to the First Interrogatories, Desert Valley changed its 

asserted damages figure to “$89,197.58”. I SUPP 135. This morphing figure is 

peculiar, as Desert Valley should have been aware of its costs (and thus its 

expected “profits”) well before the start of litigation. To the contrary, Desert 
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Valley failed to provide a concrete damages figure at any point prior to or after 

Inose’s termination of the Contract, which is exactly why this dispute resulted in 

the underlying litigation. This again highlights the inexactness of Desert Valley’s 

recordkeeping throughout the Project and, subsequently, throughout the litigation. 

 In light of the foregoing, Inose respectfully submits that the district court 

committed no error in holding that Desert Valley did not establish its damages by a 

preponderance of the evidence at trial. To the extent that this Court determines that 

any of the foregoing factors did not weigh into the district court’s decision, this 

Court may nevertheless affirm the judgment of the district court on any grounds 

supported by the record. Lowrance v. Lowrance, 87 Nev. 503, 507, 489 P.2d 676, 

678 (1971). See also Nat’l Audubon Soc. v. U.S. Forest Serv., 46 F.3d 1437, 1446 

(9th Cir. 1993) (“In reviewing decisions of the district court, we may affirm on any 

ground supported by the record.”). 

c. The district court’s findings regarding Desert Valley’s breach of the 
Contract were proper, but nevertheless irrelevant to the instant appeal 

 Desert Valley prevailed on Inose’s counterclaim for breach of contract. VII 

APP 1173–78. Nevertheless, Desert Valley argues that the district court erred in 

holding that Desert Valley had breached the Contract in several respects and 

requests that this Court overturn those holdings. Appellant’s Opening Brief at 16. 

It is unclear why Desert Valley would challenge the district court’s holdings 

pertaining to claims on which Desert Valley prevailed, as the fact of Desert 
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Valley’s breach of the Contract is irrelevant to its appeal of its own claims against 

Inose. Indeed, the district court ruled in favor of Inose on Desert Valley’s claims 

because Desert Valley was unable to establish its damages by a preponderance of 

the evidence—not because of the various breaches of the Contract committed by 

Desert Valley. See VII APP 1170–73. Rather, Desert Valley’s breaches of the 

Contract were relevant to Inose’s contract-based counterclaims against Desert 

Valley, which is why such holdings appear under its discussion of those claims. 

See VII APP 1173–78. Therefore, Desert Valley’s argument that the district court’s 

holdings are “inconsistent” is nonsensical. See Appellant’s Opening Brief at 15. 

Regardless, because the district court properly held Desert Valley in breach of the 

Contract, Inose will briefly discuss why Desert Valley’s arguments as to the same 

must fail.  

First, Desert Valley argues that it did not breach the Contract by failing to 

complete the work in good and workmanlike manner, nor by failing to complete 

the scope of the work. Appellant’s Opening Brief at 16–18. However, it is 

undisputed that Desert Valley stopped working on the project at approximately 

eighty-five percent (85%) completion, as confirmed by Merritt’s trial testimony. 

VII APP 1169. To the extent that Desert Valley blames this on Inose’s termination 

of the Contract on December 8, 2015, it is also undisputed that Desert Valley 

directed all subcontractors to stop work on the Project on November 16, 2015 prior 
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to Inose’s terminating the Contract. Id. at 1168. Therefore, to avoid liens being 

placed on his Property and to have the work completed, Inose had no choice but to 

terminate the Contract with Desert Valley and engage the subcontractors directly to 

finish the remaining work on the Project. Id. at 1169. 

Moreover, Desert Valley cites only one short excerpt from the trial 

testimony to challenge the district court’s holding that Desert Valley had not 

completed the work in good and workmanlike manner. See Appellant’s Opening 

Brief at 16–17. Through this excerpt, Desert Valley attempts to shift the blame for 

certain damage that occurred to the property to another company, ServPro, which 

Inose hired to assist with the initial cleanup following the flood damage. Id. 

However, Desert Valley caused additional damage to the property long after the 

initial cleanup was completed (and thus long after ServPro ceased working on the 

Property). For example, Desert Valley—not ServPro—damaged interior walls 

during its cutting of the replacement floor tiles. VII APP 1165. Additionally, 

Desert Valley failed to perform in a workmanlike manner by failing at times to 

lock the Property overnight, failing to adequately supervise the Project, and failing 

to properly document changes to the scope of work. See II APP 257–59; VII APP 

1165–66.  

Next, Desert Valley argues that it did not breach the Contract by failing to 

complete scope of work within confines of insurance proceeds. Appellant’s 
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Opening Brief at 18–19. However, Desert Valley had represented on multiple 

occasions to Inose and Fireman’s Fund that it could complete the entirety of the 

Project for a total of approximately $1,321,133.12, with no change orders 

necessary. VII APP 1167–68. Inose relied on that representation in closing out the 

insurance claim for that amount, even if he did not do so at the express direction of 

Desert Valley. Id. at 1169. Moreover, Desert Valley specifically represented that 

changes to the scope of work could be made without altering the total cost of the 

project by shifting costs from one part of the Project to certain others, as necessary. 

Id. at 1165. Desert Valley’s refusal to clearly and consistently communicate its 

required costs to Inose and Fireman’s Fund directly led to Desert Valley’s having 

breached the Contract by failing to complete the Project for the amount it claimed 

it would. 

Finally, Desert Valley asserts that it did not fail to pay subcontractors in full 

for work to be completed and that it did not unilaterally approve change orders. 

Appellant’s Opening Brief at 19–20. This is patently false. While Desert Valley 

attempts to equivocate and suggest that Inose “was aware of the Change Orders,” 

this does not alter the requirement under the Contract that all change orders “must 

be put in writing so that these costs will be added to the Scope of Work.” VII 

APP 1165 (citing Trial Exhibit 560, the Contract); VII APP 1137–38. Because 

Desert Valley failed to obtain such written and signed change orders from Inose 
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throughout the Project, it necessarily approved such change orders unilaterally. See 

VII APP 1166. Additionally, Desert Valley’s argument that it did not fail to pay 

subcontractors out of the sums it received is belied by the fact that Inose was 

forced to pay the subcontractors, out of pocket, a total of $256,481.46 to complete 

the Project. Id. at 1170. 

Therefore, because Desert Valley has failed to demonstrate that the district 

court erred in holding that it breached the Contract (and because such argument is 

irrelevant to the instant appeal), Desert Valley’s argument regarding its various 

breaches of the Contract is unavailing. Rather, the pertinent issue is whether Desert 

Valley has successfully demonstrated, by a preponderance of the evidence, that it 

had sustained any damages to which it is entitled to receive from Inose. Based on 

the foregoing, it has not, and the district court’s judgment should be affirmed. 

/ / / 

/ / / 

/ / / 

/ / / 

/ / / 

/ / / 

/ / / 

/ / / 
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VII. CONCLUSION 

In light of the foregoing, Inose respectfully requests that this Court affirm 

the findings of fact and conclusions of law of the district court in full, without the 

need for further proceedings on remand. 

Dated this 17th day of July 2020.  
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BRIAN W. BOSCHEE, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 7612 
JESSICA M. LUJAN, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 14913 
400 South Fourth Street, Third Floor 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89101 
 
Attorneys of record for Respondents In-
Lo Properties, Eugene Inose, and  
Jeffrey Louie 
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Dated this 17th day of July 2020. 

HOLLEY DRIGGS  
 
 
 

/s/ Brian W. Boschee, Esq.  
BRIAN W. BOSCHEE, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 7612 
JESSICA M. LUJAN, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 14913 
400 South Fourth Street, Third Floor 
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Attorneys of record for Respondents In-
Lo Properties, Eugene Inose, and  
Jeffrey Louie 
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MEMORANDUM OF POINTS AND AUTHORITIES 

I. INTRODUCTION 

The case was a straightforward action for breach of contract (and related equitable claims). 

Inose hired Plaintiff Desert Valley Contracting, Inc. (“Desert Valley” or “Plaintiff”) to renovate 

his home following a flood that left the residence uninhabitable. Throughout the project, Desert 

Valley worked directly with Inose’s insurance company, Firemans’ Fund, to confirm the amount 

of insurance proceeds that would be necessary to complete the work. However, as was 

demonstrated at trial, Desert Valley on many occasions unilaterally approved change orders to the 

scope of work without Inose’s authorization—and without informing Fireman’s Fund of the 

increased costs—in breach of the contract. Desert Valley also materially breached the contract in 

a number of other ways, which Inose proved at trial. 

Thereafter, when Inose refused to pay the balance of Desert Valley’s inflated and 

unauthorized costs, Desert Valley instructed all of the subcontractors to stop work on the property 

(another breach of the contract). To have the work completed, obtain a certificate of occupancy to 

be able to live in the home, and avoid having liens placed on his property, Inose hired the 

subcontractors directly to complete the work, ultimately paying them $256,481.46 out of his own 

pocket. Despite Desert Valley’s breaches, and despite the fact that Inose paid Desert Valley more 

than its impermissibly-inflated costs, Desert Valley initiated suit against Inose in the Eighth 

Judicial District Court on March 31, 2016 to recover the “profits” it believed it was entitled to 

recover from Inose. In response, Inose filed its Answer and Counterclaims against Desert Valley 

on June 7, 2016, to recover the additional sums he was forced to pay directly to the subcontractors 

to complete the work on his home.  

The parties proceeded to a seven-day bench trial that commenced on April 8, 2019 and 

continued on the following non-consecutive dates: April 9–11, 2019, and June 19–21, 2019. 

Throughout the trial, the Court was presented with thousands of pages of documents and the 

testimony of several key witnesses, including: Inose, Dennis Zachary (“Zachary,” the owner of 

Desert Valley), Daniel Merritt (“Merritt,” Desert Valley’s lead estimator on the project), and 

Rachelle Elliston (“Elliston,” Desert Valley’s operations manager on the project). Ultimately, the 
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Court ruled in favor of Inose on Desert Valley’s claims, and in favor of Desert Valley on Inose’s 

counterclaims, holding that neither party had been able to establish its damages with any level of 

certainty, given Desert Valley’s failure to properly document authorized changes to the scope of 

work throughout the project. Accordingly, the Court awarded Defendants their fees and costs under 

NRCP 68 based on a generous offer of judgment to Desert Valley in January 2018, which Desert 

Valley rejected. 

Desert Valley appealed to the Supreme Court arguing, in pertinent part, that the 

construction contract contained a scrivener’s error which, if corrected, would entitle Desert Valley 

to expected overhead and profits in the event of termination by Inose. The Supreme Court agreed 

with Desert Valley on this single point (leaving all of the Court’s other factual findings 

undisturbed) and reversed the Court’s judgment and remanded for further proceedings to 

determine whether this single finding of fact was harmless error in light of the other established 

facts of the case. As Defendants will demonstrate herein, Desert Valley materially breached the 

contract first—and continued to materially breach the contract repeatedly throughout the project—

thereby waiving any claim to damages. Thus, the Court’s error was harmless, and the same result 

should be reached on remand. 

II. RELEVANT FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW 

Following the seven-day bench trial, on July 4, 2019, the Court entered a Minute Order 

setting forth its critical findings of fact and conclusions of law and awarding both sides zero 

damages. See Minute Order, on file herein. The Court entered its final FFCL on September 3, 

2019. See FFCL, on file herein.  

The following represent the pertinent holdings from both the Minute Order and the Court-

approved FFCL. For the sake of brevity and clarity, Defendants omit any of the Court’s factual 

findings that are irrelevant and/or unhelpful to the Court’s consideration of the narrow issue on 

remand. Defendants nevertheless submit that, even if the Court were to consider any of its other 

prior findings of fact that are not mentioned herein, such facts would not alter the ultimate 

conclusion previously reached by the Court. 

/ / / 
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a. The Court’s July 24, 2019 Minute Order 

1. “Plaintiff and Defendants both breached the contract[.]” See Minute Order, bullet 

1. 

2. Neither Plaintiff nor Defendants “met their burden of proof, by a preponderance of 

the evidence, as they failed to provide evidence of the damages caused by those breaches[.]” Id. at 

bullet 2. 

3. The “lack of thorough accounting on both sides contributed to the parties’ failure 

to meet their burdens of proof[.]” Id. at bullet 8. 

4. “Desert Valley Contracting interfered with the completion of the project, by 

sending out letters to their subcontractors, directing those subcontractors not to work with Eugene 

Inose and his decorator[.]” Id. at bullet 10. 

5. There “was a contract in place; therefore, neither side proved-up the claim for 

unjust enrichment, and provided no proof of damages related to unjust enrichment[.]” Id. at bullet 

12. 

6. There “being a breach of contract, the Court did not have to get to the breach of 

implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing; alternatively, to the extent the Court did have to 

get to the breach of implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing, both sides breached the implied 

covenant, but failed to prove up their damages[.]” Id. at bullet 13. 

7. Desert Valley Contracting and Eugene Inose’s interference claims failed, for all of 

the reasons previously stated[.]” Id. at bullet 14. 

b. The Court’s September 3, 2019 Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law 

8. “Per the testimony of Zachary [owner of Desert Valley], the Contract was to be 

performed on a ‘10 and 10’ basis, meaning that Desert Valley’s job costs would have built in to its 

total an additional ten-percent to account for Desert Valley’s overhead and another ten-percent to 

account for Desert Valley’s profit.” See FFCL at 3, ¶ 9. 

/ / / 

 

/ / / 
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9. The contract provides, in pertinent part, as follows: 

Should Client terminate the Contractor after work has begun, but not completed in 
full, the Client shall be responsible for any and all fees and costs associated with 
the work performed, plus the profit that the client would have made on the job had 
Client not repudiated the contract. 

Contract, Ex. 560 (hereinafter, the “Termination Provision”); FFCL at 3, ¶ 7.1  

10. “Per Merritt’s [lead estimator] testimony, an initial bid for the project was 

completed on or around November 17, 2014 and was provided to Fireman’s Fund to coordinate an 

anticipated scope of work and release of insurance proceeds.”  See Inose Full Bid3 (the “November 

Bid”), Exhibit 266; FFCL at 4, ¶ 22. 

11. “The November Bid includes a line item total job cost of $1,035,605.74, plus 10% 

overhead in the amount of $103,561.15, plus 10% profit in the amount of $103,561.15, and 

material sales tax of $31,371.63, for a grand total claim of $1,274,099.67.”  See November Bid, 

Exhibit 266 at DVC000662; FFCL at 4, ¶ 23. 

12. “Inose, Merritt, and Zachary all testified that Desert Valley had consistently 

represented to Inose that Desert Valley could offset the costs of certain changes in scope by 

removing other items that were part of the original scope of work and that doing so would not 

affect the total cost of the project.  This included, but was not limited to, the removal of the sauna 

which had previously been on the Property offset by an expansion and various upgrades to the 

wine room.” FFCL at 5, ¶ 24 (emphasis added). 

Cost Overruns 

13. “Merritt testified that there were many cost overruns on the project which included, 

but were not limited to, an over-order of approximately eight (8) pallets of tile which Merritt 

testified were ordered based on measurements provided by Summit Tile and Stone, one of the 

subcontractors working for Desert Valley.” FFCL at 5, ¶ 25. 

 
1 The Supreme Court held that it was error to construe the typo in contract against Desert Valley. 
See Order of Reversal and Remand (the “Remand Order”) at 4. Thus, the contract should be 
construed to entitle Desert Valley to the profits it would have received in the event the contract 
was repudiated, if any. This is the only finding of fact by the Court that has been disturbed on 
appeal. 
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Change Orders to the Scope of Work 

14. “The Contract further provides that ‘[i]f any requests for additional work to be 

performed are made during the scope of the job, all such requests must be put in writing so that 

these costs will be added to the Scope of Work.’”  Contract, Ex. 560 (emphasis added); FFCL at 

5, ¶ 30. 

15. “Zachary further testified that without a written, approved, and signed change 

order, Desert Valley would have no obligation to and would not pay the subcontractor for the 

change to its scope of work.” FFCL at 6, ¶ 33. 

16. “Zachary further testified that the process of requiring a written and approved 

change order signed by the owner (in this case Inose) would be necessary to obligate Inose to pay 

for any changes to Desert Valley’s scope of work.” FFCL at 6, ¶ 34 (emphasis added). 

17. “Zachary and Merritt further testified that Desert Valley did not obtain Inose’s 

approval or signature on any change orders throughout the course of the Project.” FFCL at 6, ¶ 35 

(emphasis added). 

18. “The majority of the subcontractor change orders dated before July 3, 2015 are 

approved by and/or signed by Merritt.” See Exhibit 576 at IN-LO00255; Exhibit 82 at 

DVC000104; Exhibit 83 at DVC000105; Exhibit 90 at DVC000120; FFCL at 6, ¶ 36.  

19. “No change orders that were signed or approved by Inose were presented as 

evidence at trial.” FFCL at 6, ¶ 38 (emphasis added). 

20. “Rachelle Elliston and Daniel Merritt testified that Inose was aware of the Change 

Orders and refused to sign them[.]” FFCL at 6, ¶ 40. 

The Insurance Claim 

21. “The Contract further provides that the ‘Contractor agrees to perform the insured 

work as approved by the Insurance Company and accept insurance proceeds as payment for the 

insured work.’”  Contract, Ex. 560; FFCL at 7, ¶ 42. 

27. “On June 5, 2015, Merritt emailed Bryan Lynch of Fireman’s Fund and indicated 

that Desert Valley was at the ‘agreed contract amount with no needed change orders, and no more 

change orders from all of the subcontractors which had submitted their bids.’”  Exhibit 571 at IN-
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LO00074; FFCL at 7, ¶ 44. 

28. “Merritt further represented in his email to Fireman’s Fund that Desert Valley ‘will 

be able to complete the project for this amount.’”  Exhibit 571 at IN-LO00074; FFCL at 7, ¶ 45. 

29. “The subject-line of the email states ‘Agreement on amount of $1,321,133.12.’”  

Exhibit 571 at IN-LO00074; FFCL at 7, ¶ 46. 

30. “The estimate attached to Merritt’s email which is titled as a Final Bid with a 

completed date of 4/27/15 includes work (such as the Sauna Bath for example) which Merritt, 

Inose, and Zachary all confirmed was removed from the scope of the Project and was never done.”  

Exhibit 571 at IN-LO00094; FFCL at 7, ¶ 47. 

Post-Insurance Claim 

31. “Inose and Merritt testified that on or about July 3, 2015, Desert Valley provided 

to Inose a waiver and release which included a notation signed by Daniel indicating ‘No change 

orders as of 07/03/2015.’” See Unconditional Waiver and Release on Progress Payment (the 

“Waiver”), Exhibit 562. FFCL at 8, ¶ 52. 

32. “The Waiver provides in capitalized text as follows: 

NOTICE: THIS DOCUMENT WAIVES RIGHTS UNCONDITIONALLY AND 
STATES THAT YOU HAVE BEEN PAID FOR GIVING UP THOSE RIGHTS.  
THIS DOCUMENT IS ENFORCEABLE AGAINST YOU IF YOU SIGN IT, 
EVEN IF YOU HAVE NOT BEEN PAID.  IF YOU HAVE NOT BEEN PAID, 
USE A CONDITIONAL RELEASE FORM.” 

FFCL at 8, ¶ 53. 

33. “Elliston testified that she signed an invoice dated September 4, 2015 which 

includes the following handwritten notation: ‘Total Contract to Complete House $1,321,331.27.’”  

Desert Valley Invoice dated 9/4/15, Exhibit 564; FFCL at 8, ¶ 55. 

34. “Elliston and Zachary testified that Desert Valley sent a letter dated November 16, 

2015 to all subcontractors working on the project directing them to cease working on the Property.”  

See Letter dated November 16, 2015, Exhibit 567; FFCL at 8, ¶ 56. 

35. “On November 24, 2015, Merritt forwarded to Inose this list [prepared for Desert 

Valley’s attorney] of what Desert Valley purported to be the differences between its estimated and 
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actual costs to complete the project.  The total amount of the asserted differences was 

approximately $125,763.26.” See November 23, 2015 Email, Exhibit 568; FFCL at 8–9, ¶ 58. See 

also FFCL at 8, ¶ 57. 

36. “The list delineates between the estimate and finals costs and does not specify what 

amounts are accounted for through written, approved, and signed change orders and what amounts 

are not.”  See Exhibit 568; FFCL at 9, ¶ 59. 

37. “Merritt testified that, although he had been receiving and approving change orders 

throughout the course of the Project, and notwithstanding that Desert Valley had indicated to Inose 

in writing in July 2015 that there were no change orders and again in September 2015 that the cost 

to complete the house was $1,321,331.27, Merritt always intended to prepare and submit one large 

master change order to Inose toward the end of the Project.” FFCL at 9, ¶ 60. 

38. “No evidence was presented at trial or any written communications to Inose 

indicating Desert Valley’s intent to compile and submit a large master change order at the end of 

the project.” FFCL at 9, ¶ 59 (emphasis added). 

39. “Inose testified that on or around December 8, 2015, he terminated the Contract 

with Desert Valley.” FFCL at 9, ¶ 62. 

40. “Merritt confirmed through testimony that at the time Desert Valley ceased working 

on the Property, the Project was approximately eighty-five (85%) done.” FFCL at 9, ¶ 64 

(emphasis added). 

Damages Calculation 

41. “Inose testified that after Desert Valley left the project uncompleted, with the work 

incomplete and the Property not yet in livable condition, and in order avoid any liens from being 

placed on the Property, Inose was forced to engage many of the subcontractors directly to complete 

the work and to pay the subcontractors directly.” FFCL at 9, ¶ 65. 

42. “During the course of the Project, Inose paid to Desert Valley the total amount of . 

. . $1,123,734.87.”  See Checks, Exhibit 585; FFCL at 10, ¶ 69. 

43. “Zachary confirmed through testimony that in total Desert Valley incurred costs in 

the amount of . . . $1,012,451.08.”  See Job Cost and Billing Report, Exhibit 274 at DVC000706; 
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FFCL at 10, ¶ 71. 

44. “Zachary and Elliston testified that Desert Valley was paid for the entirety of its 

costs incurred as well as a portion of its profit and overhead.” FFCL at 10, ¶ 72 (emphasis added). 

45. “Inose paid directly to subcontractors the total amount of . . . $256,481.46 to 

complete work for which Desert Valley had already been paid.” See Checks and Credit Card 

Statements, Exhibits 586 through 595; FFCL at 10, ¶ 73. 

22. “Inose paid Desert Valley $1,123,734.87 to complete approximately 85% of the 

Project, plus an additional $256,481.46 to subcontractors directly to finish the project, for a sum 

total paid by Inose of $1,380,216.33.” FFCL at 10, ¶ 74. 

Conclusions of Law as to the Parties’ Breaches of the Contract 

23. “Desert Valley breached its obligations under the Contract by failing to complete 

the work in a good and workmanlike manner including, but not limited to, by causing damage to 

the Property unrelated to the restoration and incorporated the cost of repairs for this damage into 

the cost it sought to collect from Inose.” FFCL at 14, ¶ 23. 

24. “Desert Valley breached its obligations under the Contract by failing to complete 

the scope of work and provide Inose with a fully restored property.” FFCL at 14, ¶ 24. 

25. “Desert Valley breached its obligations under the Contract by failing to complete 

the scope of work set forth in the Contract within the confines of the Insurance Proceeds as required 

under the Contract.” FFCL at 14, ¶ 25. 

26. “Desert Valley breached the Contract by failing to pay the subcontractors in full for 

work to be completed by the subcontractors.” FFCL at 14, ¶ 26. 

27. “Desert Valley breached its obligations under the Contract by unilaterally 

approving change orders received from subcontractors and failing to obtain approval of the same 

from Inose.” FFCL at 14, ¶ 27. 

28. “The above-referenced breaches by Desert Valley were unexcused.” FFCL at 14, ¶ 

28. 

29. “Inose breached the Contract by failing to forward insurance proceeds as and when 

received to Desert Valley.” FFCL at 14, ¶ 29. 
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30. “Inose breached the Contract by coordinating directly with the subcontractors 

retained by Desert Valley.” FFCL at 14, ¶ 30. 

31. “Inose paid subcontractors directly the total amount $256,481.46 to complete work 

but could not distinguish between what was paid to restore the property versus what was paid for 

upgrades to the property.” FFCL at 14, ¶ 31. 

III. LEGAL ARGUMENT 

As a preliminary matter, this Court did not address the scrivener’s error (the sole issue upon 

which the Court has been reversed) in its Minute Order, which relayed to the parties the Court’s 

central findings of fact and conclusions of law following the seven-day bench trial. See Minute 

Order. While the Minute Order does not override the Court’s FFCL, this merely demonstrates the 

relative unimportance of the sole issue on remand to the Court’s prior decision. 

Indeed, the narrow issue before the Court on remand is whether it committed harmless 

error when it found that the typo in the contract (calling for “the client” to receive the profits it 

would have made had the client not repudiated) was an ambiguity rather than a scrivener’s error. 

See Remand Order at 4. In other words, could the Court still reach its ultimate conclusion—that 

neither party is entitled to damages—despite the now-reformed language in the contract? The 

Supreme Court held that it could not decide for itself whether this was harmless error, as this Court 

still could have found that Desert Valley waived its right to receive its expected profit and overhead 

by virtue of its own various material breaches of the contract. Id. (citing Cain v. Price, 134 Nev. 

193, 196, 415 P.3d 25, 29 (2018) and Westinghouse Elec. Corp. v. Garrett Corp., 601 F.2d 155, 

158 (4th Cir. 1979)). As Defendants will show, that is precisely what happened. 

While the Court’s prior holding with regard to the “scrivener’s error” in the contract was 

at the time one of the more simple and straightforward bases upon which to deny Desert Valley 

any additional sums under the contract, this was only one of several independently sufficient 

reasons to deny Desert Valley its purported damages. For the reasons that follow, the reformed 

language of the contract has no bearing on the Court’s prior ruling, and Desert Valley is still not 

entitled to any additional sums from Defendants. 

/ / / 
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a. Desert Valley is not entitled to additional payment, as it completed 85% of the 
project and was paid more than 85% of the contract price 

First, without the need to consider any additional facts or points of law, the Court can 

simply look to the overall contract price ($1,321,331.272, as confirmed by Desert Valley) and the 

percentage of the project that was completed before Desert Valley walked off the job (85%, as 

confirmed by Desert Valley) to determine that Desert Valley was paid commensurately for the 

work it performed. 

Based on the Court’s prior, undisturbed findings of fact, it is undisputed that Inose paid to 

Desert Valley a total of $1,123,734.87 for its work. FFCL at 10, ¶ 69. It is also undisputed that 

Merritt, the lead estimator on the job, testified that when Desert Valley stopped working on the 

project, the project was approximately 85% complete. FFCL at 9, ¶ 64 and 10, ¶ 74. Finally, it is 

indisputable that 85% of $1,321,331.27 equals $1,123,131.58. Thus, because Inose paid 

$1,123,734.87, Inose arguably overpaid Desert Valley by $603.29. Thus, even if Desert Valley is 

entitled to recover its expected profits and overhead as a result of Inose’s terminating the contract, 

Desert Valley has already received such profit and overhead based on the percentage of work it 

actually completed, as compared to the overall contract price (which included profit and overhead 

and contemplated a finished product3). See FFCL at 3, ¶ 9. Equitable principles support this 

conclusion, given Desert Valley’s material breaches of the contract and failure to complete the full 

 
2 Desert Valley’s estimate of the total cost of the project varied somewhat between June 2015 and 
September 2015. For example, on June 5, 2015, Merritt emailed Bryan Lynch of Fireman’s Fund 
and indicated that the total contract price for the project was $1,321,113.12, and that no change 
orders would be submitted. FFCL at 7, ¶¶ 44–46. Then, on June 19, 2015, Fireman’s Fund emailed 
Inose to relay the “final estimate” for the project of $1,320,429.28. FFCL at 7, ¶ 48. The latest 
(and highest) contract price for the project relayed by Desert Valley took place on September 4, 
2015, when Elliston signed an invoice including the following handwritten notation: “Total 
Contract to Complete House $1,321,331.27.” FFCL at 8, ¶ 55. To avoid any disputes as to the 
contract price, Defendants are willing to assume that the highest contract price quoted by Desert 
Valley ($1,321,331.27) is the operative contract price for purposes herein. 

3 A “householder who remodels his home is, usually, committing himself to one plan and one 
result, not a series of unrelated projects.” Fuller v. United Elec. Co., 70 Nev. 448, 453, 273 P.2d 
136, 138 (1954). 
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scope of work. See Westinghouse Elec. Corp. v. Garrett Corp., 601 F.2d 155, 158 (4th Cir. 1979) 

(in awarding damages based on a termination provision in a contract that both parties breached, 

the court may “balance the fault of the parties and make an equitable adjustment in awarding 

damages.”) (emphasis added). 

Anticipating Desert Valley’s argument on remand, Defendants submit that Desert Valley 

should be held to its latest-quoted contract price estimate regardless of its actual costs, which 

totaled $1,012,451.08 (again, far less than what it received from Inose). By its own course of 

conduct, Desert Valley assured both Inose and Fireman’s Fund that the total cost of the project 

would be no more than $1,321,331.27, and that no change orders would be necessary. FFCL at 7, 

¶¶ 44–46, 48; 8, ¶ 55. It further assured Inose that any changes to the scope of work could be offset 

by making other adjustments throughout the project, which the Court found necessarily precluded 

a finding of thorough accounting by Desert Valley (rendering its asserted damages speculative, at 

best). See FFCL at 5, ¶ 24; Minute Order at bullet 8. Notably, Desert Valley’s continuous 

assurances that any changes could be offset are what prompted Inose’s unwillingness to sign 

Desert Valley’s change orders, which Desert Valley presented to him only after the work had been 

completed and after the insurance claim had been closed. Finally, because “[n]o evidence was 

presented at trial or any written communications to Inose indicating Desert Valley’s intent to 

compile and submit a large master change order at the end of the project,” and indeed no change 

orders signed by Inose were presented at trial even though the contract clearly requires that any 

and all change orders be in writing, Desert Valley has waived the right to make additional upward 

adjustments to the overall contract price of $1,321,331.27. See FFCL at 9, ¶ 59; 6, ¶ 38; 5, ¶ 30. 

This is particularly so since Desert Valley materially breached the contract, thereby forcing Inose 

to engage and pay the subcontractors himself to complete the remainder of the work, obtain a 

certificate of occupancy, and avoid mechanics liens being placed on his property. FFCL at 9, ¶ 65. 

Even taking Merritt and Elliston’s testimony that “Inose was aware of the Change Orders 

and refused to sign them” as true, this speaks to Desert Valley’s affirmative representations 

throughout the project that it could offset the costs of certain changes in scope by removing other 

items that were part of the original scope of work and that doing so would not affect the total cost 
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of the project. See FFCL at 6, ¶ 40; 5, ¶¶ 24, 30. Indeed, Inose refused to sign the change orders 

based on Desert Valley’s representations as to offsets, and the purported change orders were never 

forwarded to Fireman’s Fund—the sole source of funding for the project under the contract. FFCL 

at 7, ¶ 42 (Contract, Ex. 560). Only when Desert Valley realized that it would not have sufficient 

funding to complete the project—after the insurance claim was closed—and thereafter attempted 

to present Inose with one large change order towards the end of the project (contrary to its prior 

representations) did the issues described herein arise. See FFCL at 9, ¶¶ 60–61. Thus, based on its 

own conduct, Desert Valley should bear any risks associated with performing work not subject to 

a signed change order, to the extent such costs could not be offset, as promised by Desert Valley. 

Ultimately, Inose paid Desert Valley more than 85% of its stated contract price to complete 

approximately 85% of the work. And with only 85% of the house complete as of November 2015 

when Desert Valley instructed the subcontractors to stop working (despite Desert Valley’s quote 

that the work would be done by April 2015) Inose was left without a certificate of occupancy, no 

place to live, and no choice but to either pay Desert Valley the surprise ransom it demanded for 

completion or hire the subcontractors directly to finish the work. In light of Desert Valley’s 

material breaches of the contract to that point, Inose chose the latter option, terminated the contract, 

and engaged the subcontractors directly. As the Court ultimately found, Desert Valley could not 

thereafter demonstrate by a preponderance of the evidence that it was entitled to any additional 

payment. 

b. Desert Valley is not entitled to damages by virtue of its own material breaches of 
the construction contract 

To the extent the Court finds the foregoing argument to be inconclusive, the legal principles 

cited by the Supreme Court in its Remand Order also weigh in Defendants’ favor. Defendants 

anticipate that Desert Valley will argue that, based on Inose’s December 2015 termination of the 

contract, the newly-reformed contract now entitles it to its expected overhead and profit, which is 

calculated on a “10 and 10” basis, based on the total job costs. See FFCL at 3, ¶ 7 (Termination 

Provision); FFCL at 3, ¶ 9 (explaining “10 and 10” basis). To illustrate, Defendants expect Desert 

Valley to argue that, because its costs incurred throughout the project totaled $1,012,451.08, and 
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10% of that sum equals $101,245.11, it is purportedly entitled to $101,245.11 in profits, and 

$101,245.11 in overhead, for a total amount of $1,214,941.30 that it expected to receive from 

Inose.4 Thus, Desert Valley’s position will likely be that it is entitled to the difference between 

$1,214,941.30 and $1,123,734.87 (the amount actually paid by Inose). 

However, as the Supreme Court pointed out, when “parties exchange promises to perform, 

one party’s material breach of its promise discharges the non-breaching party’s duty to perform.” 

Cain v. Price, 134 Nev. 193, 196, 415 P.3d 25, 29 (2018) (citing Restatement (Second) of 

Contracts § 237 (Am. Law Inst. 1981)); Remand Order at 5. Additionally, the Supreme Court 

recognized in its Remand Order that under “general contract law, courts have held that in some 

instances where both parties are at fault (or in default) neither may recover.” Westinghouse Elec. 

Corp. v. Garrett Corp., 601 F.2d 155, 158 (4th Cir. 1979) (citing 6 Williston, Contracts s 882 (3d 

ed. 1962)); Remand Order at 5. The Supreme Court thus remanded the case for further proceedings, 

as “the court did not determine who breached first or if the breaches were mutual, thereby 

precluding relief.” Remand Order at 5 (emphasis added). 

Critically, this Court has already held that Desert Valley inexcusably breached the contract 

in numerous ways from virtually day-one of the project, before Inose ever breached. See FFCL at 

14, ¶¶ 23–28. Its first breach—which relates directly to its inability to establish its damages by a 

preponderance of the evidence—occurred when Desert Valley promised Inose that certain changes 

to the scope of work could be offset in other areas, while at the same time unilaterally approving 

change orders received from the subcontractors and failing to obtain Inose’s written authorization 

via a signed change order. See id. at 5, ¶ 24; 14, ¶ 27; 6, ¶ 35. As Inose, Merrit, and Zachary all 

testified, this happened consistently throughout the project. Id. at 5, ¶ 24. It is for this very reason 

 
4 Indeed, this is the only argument Desert Valley can make, as this was its theory of recovery at 
trial. See Desert Valley’s Trial Brief at 17, on file herein. As such, it has waived any other theories 
of recovery on remand. See Nationstar Mortgage, LLC v. Sahara Sunrise Homeowners Ass’n, 
215CV01597MMDNJK, 2020 WL 6729076, at *3 (D. Nev. Nov. 16, 2020) (refusing to consider 
new arguments post-appeal other than those specifically instructed by the appellate court); Remand 
Order at 5 (listing several narrow inquiries related to the scrivener’s error and instructing that 
“[t]hese are questions of fact for the district court to determine on remand,” thus implying the 
exclusion of any additional theories or issues of fact). 

SUPP000115



1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

 

- 16 - 
 

that this Court held Desert Valley had failed to maintain “thorough accounting” such that it could 

not meet its burden of proof to establish its damages. See Minute Order at bullet 8. This breach 

was material, and precluded this Court’s ability to award either side damages. 

Desert Valley also breached the contract when it failed to pay the subcontractors in full for 

work completed by them and thereafter instructed the subcontractors to stop working on the project 

on November 16, 2015. FFCL at 14, ¶ 26; 8, ¶ 56. This resulted in Inose’s having to hire the 

subcontractors directly to finish the work—paying the subcontractors a total of $256,481.46 of his 

own money in the process. FFCL at 10, ¶ 74. This material breach is the reason why Inose brought 

counterclaims against Desert Valley. And although the Court held that Inose was not entitled to 

recovery on this sum because he could not distinguish what was paid to restore the property from 

what was paid for upgrades, neither could Desert Valley distinguish the same for purposes of 

showing that Inose paid less than what he still owed Desert Valley to subcontractors for the cost 

to restore the property, thereby owing Desert Valley the remaining sum. See Hermann v. Varco-

Pruden Bldgs., 106 Nev. 564, 567, 796 P.2d 590, 592 (1990) (“In Nevada, if a party has 

substantially performed, it may recover the full contract price minus the necessary expenses to 

complete the bargained for performance.”) (emphasis added). This mutual failure on the part of 

both parties further precluded the Court’s ability to assess damages to either side. 

Only after all of the foregoing breaches by Desert Valley did Inose finally terminate the 

contract on December 8, 2015, thereby triggering the Termination Provision upon which Desert 

Valley’s position relies. FFCL at 9, ¶ 62. This act also led to Desert Valley’s final and most 

egregious breach, which is its failure to complete the full scope of work, and failing to complete 

the work it did do in a good and workmanlike manner (and in doing so, causing damage to Inose’s 

property and then improperly attempting to incorporate the cost of repairs for the damage into the 

sum it sought to collect from Inose). FFCL at 14, ¶ 23. Just like the foregoing breaches by Desert 

Valley, this improper cost-shifting made it impossible for the Court to reach an accurate costs 

figure, and thus an accurate calculation of either party’s damages, if any. Moreover, Desert Valley 

should bear the repair costs and the costs of the over-ordered materials that remain sitting in Inose’s 

garage. See FFCL at 5, ¶ 26; Hermann, 106 Nev. at 567, 796 P.2d at 592 (“Therefore, because the 
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subcontract does not have a provision allocating which party should bear the risk of loss for 

delivered but uninstalled materials, the risk of loss is borne by [the subcontractor and not the 

owner].”). Notably, Desert Valley added to the Court’s difficulty in determining its damages by 

including work in its final bids to Fireman’s Fund that was never actually completed (such as the 

sauna bath). FFCL at 7, ¶ 47. Desert Valley’s clumsy accounting resulted in the Court’s finding 

that it had failed to meet its burden of proof as to damages. 

Based on Desert Valley’s numerous material breaches of the construction contract, and its 

other egregious conduct as described herein and throughout the seven-day bench trial, contract law 

and equitable principles require that the Court reach the same result as it did before, despite the 

Supreme Court’s narrow reversal, i.e., that Desert Valley failed to establish its damages by a 

preponderance of the evidence, and has otherwise waived any claim thereto by its own conduct. 

See Cain, 134 Nev. at 196, 415 P.3d at 29 (“When parties exchange promises to perform, one 

party’s material breach of its promise discharges the non-breaching party’s duty to perform.”) 

(cited in Remand Order at 5); Westinghouse Elec. Corp., 601 F.2d at 158 (Holding under “general 

contract law, courts have held that in some instances where both parties are at fault (or in default) 

neither may recover” and that courts may “balance the fault of the parties and make an equitable 

adjustment in awarding damages.”) (cited in Remand Order at 5). 

c. There is no need for a new trial on remand 

Defendants submit that there is no need to conduct a new bench trial to resolve the issues 

of fact identified by the Supreme Court. As a procedural matter, the Nevada Court of Appeals has 

suggested that a district court need not conduct a new trial on remand unless one is specifically 

ordered. See, e.g., Brady v. Fortin, 78836-COA, 2020 WL 362703, at *2 (Nev. App. Jan. 21, 2020) 

(unpublished) (Rejecting appellant’s argument that new trial was required on remand, as appellate 

court did not specifically order a new trial). Moreover, there are no additional factual findings 

necessary for the Court to answer the narrow questions posed by the Supreme Court, and this Court 

should decline the opportunity to address any new theories of recovery or issues of fact not already 

established. See Nationstar Mortgage, LLC v. Sahara Sunrise Homeowners Ass’n, 
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215CV01597MMDNJK, 2020 WL 6729076, at *3 (D. Nev. Nov. 16, 2020) (refusing to consider 

new arguments post-appeal other than those specifically instructed by the appellate court). 

As a practical matter, it would be exceedingly difficult to adequately prepare and present 

witnesses at a new bench trial, as this matter relates to events that took place in 2014–15. Moreover, 

there are sufficient documentary exhibits and pleadings on file for the Court to accomplish its tasks 

on remand. Thus, Defendants respectfully request that the Court decide the issues on remand based 

on these Supplemental Briefs and any oral argument this Court may entertain at a non-evidentiary 

hearing. 

d. Because the Court’s decision as to the parties’ damages should stand, its award 
of fees in favor of Defendants pursuant to NRCP 68 must be maintained 

On February 2, 2020, this Court granted Defendants’ Motion for Attorneys’ Fees and 

Costs, pursuant to NRCP 68’s Offer of Judgment Rule. See Order Regarding Fees and Costs, on 

file herein. Defendants offered Desert Valley the generous sum of $50,000.00 in January 2018 to 

resolve the dispute. Id. at 2, ¶ 2. Desert Valley rejected Defendants’ offer of judgment. Id. at ¶ 5. 

Of course, because it failed to do better than this following the bench trial, Defendants were entitled 

to recover their incurred fees and costs following the date of the offer of judgment. See NRCP 

68(f). To the extent the Court affirms its prior ruling, Defendants’ award of fees and costs must be 

maintained pursuant to NRCP 68. 

II. CONCLUSION 

The Supreme Court reversed and remanded this matter based on a very narrow and largely 

irrelevant finding of fact. To hold that Desert Valley may have been entitled to its “profits” based 

on Inose’s termination of the contract puts the cart before the horse—it assumes Desert Valley was 

able to establish its so-called damages by a preponderance of the evidence, as required. As this 

Court has already held, Desert Valley failed to meet its burden as to damages. Moreover, to the 
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extent Desert Valley did have any damages, it waived its right to recover them based on its various

material breaches of the contract, which thereby precluded relief.

Accordingly, Defendants respectfully submit that this Court should affirm its prior decision

on remand, including its award of attorneys' fees and costs in favor of Defendants.

Dated this 21 st day of May, 2021.

HOLLEY DRIGGS

BRIAN W. BOSCHEE, ESQ.
Nevada Bar No. 7612
JESSICA M. LUJAN, ESQ.
Nevada Bar No. 14913
400 South Fourth Street, Third Floor
Las Vegas, Nevada 89101

Attorneys for Defendants
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

The undersigned, an employee of Holley Driggs, hereby certifies that on the 21st day of 

May, 2021, a copy of DEFENDANTS’ SUPPLEMENTAL BRIEF ON REMAND, was served 

via electronic service in accordance with Administrative Order 14.2, to all interested parties, 

through the Court’s Odyssey E-File & Serve to the addresses below.   Pursuant to EDCR 8.05(i), 

the date and time of the electronic service is in place of the date and place of deposit in the 

mail.: 

Carrie E. Hurtik, Esq. 
Rachel L. Shelstad, Esq.  
HURTIK LAW & ASSOCIATES 
6767 West Tropicana Ave., #200 
Las Vegas, NV 89103 
 
Attorneys for Plaintiff/Counterdefendant 
 

 

 
 

/s/Madeline VanHeuvelen  
An employee of HOLLEY DRIGGS  
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